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Dedication


I would like to dedicate this novel to all of us who every day struggle with mental health issues, fighting one of the hardest fights there is to fight – the fight against our own minds… against a darkness that no one else sees.


Please, stay in the ring.


This fight is worth fighting.


This life is worth living.


Those happy moments are worth finding.


We deserve our right to make mistakes.


We deserve our right to try again.


We deserve to be here.


Please, don’t give up.










Warning


This novel contains themes that some readers may find upsetting. For more information and support, please see page 531.










One


With concerned eyes, the taxi driver watched as a relatively drunk Melissa Hawthorne opened the back door to the silver Mazda 3 and awkwardly stepped out onto the sidewalk in front of her house. The time was coming up to 2 a.m., on a Sunday morning and Melissa had been drinking since around 9 p.m. the night before. She didn’t usually drink a lot. She didn’t usually get that drunk either, but it was her best friend’s twenty-eighth birthday, which was celebrated at the Broken Shaker, a pool deck cocktail lounge, with a very relaxed South Beach vibe, located on the rooftop of the historically unique Freehand Hotel in Downtown Los Angeles. Fruity cocktails followed by Jägerbombs added up to quite a lethal combination, Melissa had found out. Though she’d had a great time, she wasn’t looking forward to the mammoth hangover that she knew would be coming her way when she woke up.


‘The door…’ the driver called out. ‘Could you please close the door?’


‘Oh, yeah. Sorry!’ Melissa replied in an unsteady voice before shoving the Mazda’s back door with her hip. The effort was cumbersome and not quite powerful enough for the door to shut properly.


‘Nope, it didn’t close,’ the driver announced, pulling a face.


Melissa gave the driver a silly smile and tried a second time, but instead of simply giving the door a quick bump, she fully opened it again before repeating the shoving movement, this time with even less strength than before.


‘Oops!’


‘It’s OK,’ the driver said, with a shake of the head. ‘I’ll do it. Don’t worry.’


As the driver got out of the cab and rounded the car, Melissa slowly stumbled toward her front door, where, in between trying to find her house keys and managing to properly slide the correct one into the keyhole, she spent the best part of two and a half minutes.


Once finally inside, she closed the door behind her, poured herself a glass of water and made her way into her bedroom at the back of the house. She dropped her handbag on her bedside table and took a quick shower before at last getting into bed. As she did, she checked her cellphone. The time was 2:28 a.m.


No messages.


Melissa would have been lying if she didn’t admit to herself that she felt a little disappointed. At the Broken Shaker cocktail lounge, she had met someone who she felt quite attracted to. His name was Mark, and after several cocktails, a few shots and plenty of laughs, they had exchanged phone numbers.


At the bar, just before she left, Mark had asked Melissa if she wanted him to come back with her. Melissa had been tempted. Very tempted. It’d been over six months since she had shared her bed with anyone, after catching her boyfriend of two years cheating with someone he worked with. However, despite how drunk she’d felt and how attracted she’d been to Mark, Melissa hadn’t wanted to appear too keen – in her book, taking someone to bed on the first night was never a good look.


‘Maybe next time,’ she had replied, sending a disarming smile Mark’s way.


Secretly, Melissa was half hoping that he would text her before she went to bed. Nothing extravagant. Maybe just a ‘Hope you got home OK’ message, or even a simple ‘It was nice meeting you tonight.’ Something to let her know that he was still thinking of her. Mark didn’t seem the type who played the conventional ‘waiting until at least Wednesday before messaging’ game.


2:30 a.m.


No messages. No missed calls.


‘Mel, you’re reading too much into this,’ she told herself. ‘This isn’t your first rodeo, remember? He’ll message you tomorrow.’


She put down her phone, turned off the lights and buried her head into her pillows, but as she was just about dozing off, she heard her phone vibrate on her bedside table, followed by the distinctive beep that announced a new text message. She blinked awake, smiled confidently and reached for it.


Did you have fun at the party?


Melissa’s smile brightened.


I sure did. Melissa was one of those who could cell-phone type with both thumbs. And she was lightning fast at it. Did u?


I wasn’t at the party


Melissa frowned at the reply. Still feeling somewhat drunk and fully expecting the message to have come from Mark, she hadn’t checked the name.


‘Unknown.’


The smile faded from her lips.


Who is this? she quickly typed back. My phone didn’t recognize your number.


It took about fifteen seconds for a response to come back.


Oh, your phone wouldn’t recognize my number. I’m definitely not in your contacts.


Melissa sat up against the bed’s headboard, reached for the bedside lamp and turned it on.


So who are u? she typed back. And if ur not in my contacts, how did u get my numb?


Who am I? Well… to you, I’ll be a Mentor, Melissa. A teacher of sorts.


Melissa’s forehead knitted with doubt. Not quite the reply she was expecting.


A mentor? she typed back.


That’s correct. I educate. I teach. And this is all part of a big lesson, Melissa.


That was when the penny dropped for Melissa. She remembered that Mark had told her that he was a high school teacher. If she remembered correctly, he taught algebra.


‘Oh, I see,’ she said out loud, nodding at herself. Mark must have turned off caller ID so her phone wouldn’t recognize his number, and this was him, probably still half drunk, trying to be charming, or funny, or mysterious, or something.


Cute, she thought. But I hope he’s not trying to be funny only to ask me for some nudes.


Though she felt tired, Melissa decided to indulge him, at least for a little bit.


A lesson, is it? she texted back. Ur going to teach me something, huh? So what r u going to teach me?


It didn’t take long for Melissa’s phone to beep and vibrate with a reply.


The first lesson, Melissa, will be about fear.


Melissa’s eyes squinted at the message.


‘Fear?’ she asked herself.


Was that an autocorrect word swap? Did he mean to type something else?


The message was quickly followed by a second one.


Then I’ll teach you about pain…


Melissa’s squint turned into a frown.


And yet a third message.


And once you finally understand what those two really mean, Melissa, I’ll teach you about death.


Melissa’s eyes widened in surprise and disgust at the words on her screen. If this really was Mark, he had a pretty horrible sense of humor.


What the hell? she typed back. Mark, is that u? That’s not funny at all. In fact, that’s quite disturbing. Even more so at this time at night. U R drunk. Go to bed.


The reply came a few moments later.


Mark? Who’s Mark? Is that who you’re fucking at the moment, Melissa?


‘What?’ Melissa gasped, her head jerking back slightly.


No, this couldn’t be Mark. She was now pretty sure of that. Back at the cocktail lounge, Mark had come across as a sweet, polite, intelligent and quite funny individual. This didn’t sound like him at all, drunk or not.


Melissa had had enough.


Listen, she quickly typed. Whoever U R, that was just rude. I’m blocking ur number right now.


Wait… The reply came back almost instantly.


Melissa paused.


There really is something that you should know.


She stared at her phone’s screen like a mother waiting for her kid to apologize.


Are you still there?


Yes, I’m here. I’m waiting. What is it that I should know?


Instead of words, the next message Melissa received contained four Emojis. The first was that of a moon. The second, of a car. The third, of a door. And the final one was of a house.


Melissa shook her head at her phone before shrugging.


‘What the hell is that supposed to mean?’ She spoke the words as she typed them.


It means that tonight, Melissa, after you got back from your little soirée and stumbled out of the cab… about half an hour ago… you forgot to lock your front door.


As she read those words, Melissa felt a shiver of fear kiss the back of her neck and instinctively, her anxious eyes darted in the direction of her bedroom door.


‘Was this a stupid prank?’ the rational part of her brain tried asking her.


Maybe.


But if so, then the next two questions really worried her.


Who did she know that would be capable of such a distasteful joke?


‘No one,’ she concluded.


And – worst of all – how would anyone know that she had stumbled out of the cab and into her house about half an hour ago? The timeframe was too accurate for it to have been a guess.


Was this the cab driver?


No, Melissa thought, quickly discarding that idea. It couldn’t have been.


The moment that followed was filled with hesitation, but it didn’t last long, as it was interrupted by yet another message.


But it’s OK, Melissa. Don’t worry. I’ve locked your front door for you.


Melisa was completely unsure of what to do. Should she reply? Should she block the person? Should she go check her front door? Should she call the police or someone? What?


Ding, ding. A new message


Here, have a look.


This time, the message came accompanied by an eight-second-long video clip.


Melissa hesitated for just a split second before her curiosity got the better of her. She tapped the attachment and the video clip immediately started playing on her screen. It began by showing her house keys dangling from the keyhole on the inside of her front door. A second later, a gloved hand appeared. It reached for the keys and turned them to lock the door before removing them from the lock itself.


‘What the fuck?’ Melissa murmured to herself, but the video wasn’t quite through yet. As the keys were removed from the lock, the camera panned right into her kitchen and onto the digital clock on her counter, by the fruit bowl. It read 2:24 a.m.


Melissa’s eyes shot to the top left-hand corner of her phone screen – 2:38 a.m.


Fourteen minutes ago. That meant that she was in the shower when that video was shot.


Just before the video ended, the sender whispered something into the microphone, but not loud enough for Melissa to understand what was said. She immediately rewound the video a few seconds, turned up the volume on her cellphone, and brought it to her ear, but she never got to hear what was said.


As she brought her phone to her ear, Melissa angled her head slightly right, in the direction of her bedroom door, which she always left ajar.


That was when she finally realized that she wasn’t alone in her house.


Hidden in the darkness of her hallway, in the gap between her bedroom door and the doorframe, she saw a face smiling back at her.










Two


‘Hi there,’ the tall, olive-skinned woman said, as she pulled open the door to greet the new guest. ‘You must be Robert.’


Detective Robert Hunter of the LAPD’s Ultra Violent Crimes Unit was a little surprised, but his expression gave nothing away. Instead, he smiled politely as he nodded.


‘I am, yes.’


The woman’s jet-black hair fell far beyond her shoulders and perfectly complemented her intense golden brown eyes. The delicate features of her youthful face were further accentuated by two very charming dimples, one on each cheek, that appeared every time she spoke.


‘I’m Denise,’ she said, returning the smile and offering a perfectly manicured hand, where her nails shone in crimson red, a color that matched her lipstick. ‘I’m an old friend of Anna’s.’


‘Pleasure to meet you,’ Hunter replied, taking her hand.


Denise wore white sneakers and a white T-shirt tucked into faded blue jeans, which had a natural tear over the left knee. The silver chain around her neck had a small but very detailed anatomical heart as a pendant.


‘There you are,’ Detective Carlos Garcia, Hunter’s partner at the UVC Unit, said as he appeared behind Denise wearing a long and dark apron. Across his chest, in large white letters, were the words: ‘Kiss the Chef’.


‘I’d rather not,’ Hunter commented, nodding at the words.


Garcia chuckled. ‘A present from Anna,’ he clarified. ‘As if you wouldn’t have guessed it.’


‘Shall I take that for you?’ Denise asked Hunter, already reaching for the shopping bag that he had with him. The dimples on her cheeks twitched into being and then out just as quickly.


‘Sure.’ He handed her the bag. ‘Thank you.’


‘Come on in, man,’ Garcia said, gesturing Hunter inside with the grill spatula he had in his right hand.


‘I’m going to go put this in the kitchen,’ Denise announced, before disappearing into the house.


‘Perfect timing,’ Garcia said, as Hunter stepped into his partner’s small entry lobby and closed the door behind him. ‘The first batch of picanha has just come off the barbecue. Anna is slicing it now.’


Picanha was Brazil’s most popular cut of beef. Due to its almost perfect marbling and tenderness, it was considered by many to be the perfect barbecue-grilling steak. Hunter had never heard of it until several years ago, when Garcia first invited him to a barbecue at his house.


Garcia, who was born in Brazil but had left at the early age of ten, after his parents’ marriage collapsed, had inherited his barbecue grilling skills from his father, and truth be told, he was great at it.


‘Everyone is outside,’ Garcia informed Hunter, with a jerk of the head. ‘Go right ahead. I have to grab something from the kitchen. I’ll see you out there.’


Hunter wasn’t exactly shy, but he also wasn’t the most extrovert of people, especially when it came to social gatherings.


‘Robert,’ Anna called, as soon as Hunter stepped outside and onto the backyard.


Garcia had married his high school sweetheart almost immediately after their graduation. Always an optimist, totally supportive and sharp as a spear, Anna was also the sweetest woman Garcia had ever met. Her beauty, despite being unconventional, was nonetheless mesmerizing.


With a bright smile parting her lips, Anna walked up to Hunter and gave him a kiss on each cheek. Her short black hair was a little disheveled, mainly from moving her sunglasses from her eyes to her head, then back to her eyes again. As Hunter stepped outside, she had just moved them to her head.


‘You made it,’ she said.


Hunter frowned at her surprise. ‘Don’t I always?’


Anna laughed. ‘For barbecues you do.’


‘Thank you for having me again.’


‘Always a pleasure, Robert, you know that, but come, let me introduce you to the ones you don’t know.’


Three other people were leisurely sitting around a circular patio table. A fourth person was standing by the impressive brick barbecue that Garcia had built himself.


‘This is Martin,’ Anna said, indicating a tall and skinny man. He looked a few years older than the woman he was sitting next to. ‘And his partner Charlotte,’ Anna proceeded.


‘Pleasure to meet you,’ Hunter said, shaking their hands. ‘I’m Robert.’


‘You remember Paulo, right?’ Anna continued, now indicating the person standing by the barbecue, flipping sausages over. ‘You met him the last time you were here.’


‘Yeah, of course we did.’ Paulo said, turning and greeting Hunter with a head gesture and a bright smile. ‘Hey man, how you doing?’


‘I’m alright. Yourself?’


‘I’m doing great,’ Paulo replied, his Brazilian accent still very noticeable. ‘You should try some of these sausages. Argentinian chorizo. So good it gives you goosebumps.’


‘And of course you’ve met Denise,’ Anna said, nodding at her childhood friend who was sitting to Charlotte’s left.


‘I have. Yes.’


Once again, Denise smiled at Hunter, but this time the smile came accompanied by a subtle wink.


‘Let me get you a plate and some picanha to start you off,’ Anna said, indicating an empty seat. ‘Drinks are in the kitchen.’


‘Thank you so much, Anna,’ Hunter said back, before addressing the rest of the group. ‘Can I get anyone a drinks top-up?’


‘We’re good, thanks,’ Martin said, indicating his and Charlotte’s cans of beer on the table.


‘I’m good too, thanks,’ Paulo said, returning to the table with a plate full of chorizo sausages.


‘Anna?’ Hunter asked.


‘Thanks Robert, but Carlos is in there making me a caipirinha.’


‘Oh, nice,’ Hunter commented before allowing his eyes to settle back on Denise.


‘Sure,’ she replied. ‘If you don’t mind.’


‘Of course not. My pleasure. What can I get you?’


‘Red wine please.’ She handed Hunter her empty glass.


‘Coming right up,’ Hunter said, as he turned and re-entered the house.


On the kitchen counter, Hunter found three bottles of red wine, together with a small selection of spirits. Garcia had just finished squeezing limes for a jug of caipirinha.


‘Want one of these?’ he asked, nodding at the jug. ‘You know how good my caipirinhas are.’


‘I do,’ Hunter agreed, as he reached for a new glass and a bottle of Argentinian Malbec. ‘I also know how lethal they are, but maybe later. I think I’ll start with some wine.’


Garcia paused while his eyebrows arched at his partner. ‘I assume the other glass is for… Denise?’


‘No one else wanted a drink.’


Garcia smiled. ‘She’s nice, isn’t she?’


‘Who, Denise?’


Garcia chuckled and leaned against the kitchen counter. ‘You know that that doesn’t suit you at all, right?’


‘What doesn’t suit me?’ Hunter finished pouring the second glass of wine.


Garcia pointed at him. ‘Exactly what you are doing right now, Robert. Playing dumb. It’s not your style and you suck at it, so just drop it.’


Hunter turned to face Garcia, holding a wine glass in each hand.


‘She’s single, you know?’ Garcia pushed.


‘Who?’


‘Get out.’ Garcia pointed to the kitchen door.


Outside, Hunter handed Denise her wine glass. ‘Malbec OK?’


‘Perfect,’ she replied, before indicating the seat next to her. ‘Have a seat.’


As Hunter took the seat, Garcia came out carrying a tray with the freshly made jug of caipirinha and several glasses.


‘Get ready to get woozy,’ he said, placing the jug on the table. ‘This is strong.’


As Garcia poured the caipirinhas, Hunter’s work cellphone rang in his trousers’ back pocket. He reached for it and checked the display screen.


Unknown Number.


‘Excuse me for a sec,’ he said and saw the expression on Anna’s face change.


‘Everything alright?’ Garcia asked, his tone now dead serious.


Hunter’s reply was a coy tilt of the head before getting up and putting some distance between him and the other guests.


‘Detective Hunter,’ he said as he took the call. ‘Ultra Violent Crimes Unit.’


‘Detective Hunter,’ the voice at the other end of the line retorted. ‘This is Detective William Barnes, LAPD Southwest Division. I’m sorry to have to bother you on your Sunday off.’


‘It’s OK,’ Hunter replied. ‘How can I help you, Detective Barnes?’


‘Well, I’m just really trying to save everyone some time and paperwork.’


Hunter frowned at the reply. ‘How so, Detective?’


‘About forty minutes ago, I received a call from dispatch concerning a body found inside a house in Leimert Park. African American female. Twenty-nine years of age. My partner and I arrived here about twenty minutes ago to find two ghost-faced uniformed officers standing outside the house. Both of them had already puked up their lunch, their breakfast and probably their dinner from last night too.’ There was a short pause. ‘What I’m trying to say, Detective Hunter, is that no matter which way you look at this crime scene – and I don’t think anyone is really able to look at it for longer than just a minute – this will be escalated to Violent Crimes. Of that, I have no doubt. So like I said, I’m trying to save everyone some time and paperwork because you guys are going to end up here, no matter what.’


Hunter breathed out before shaking his head ever so slightly. His eyes lifted from the floor to meet Garcia’s, who was still standing by the table full of guests.


‘What exactly do you have?’ Hunter asked.


Detective Barnes chuckled. ‘I don’t think words can describe what’s in there, Detective. You’ll have to see it to believe it.’


‘What’s the address?’ Hunter asked.


Garcia wasn’t a lip reader, but he didn’t have to be one to know that for him and Hunter, this barbecue was over.


‘Detective Hunter,’ Barnes said after giving Hunter the address. ‘Do you believe the Devil exists?’


‘Excuse me?’ Hunter’s expression contorted into a quizzical one.


‘The reason I ask, Detective Hunter, is because if you don’t… you might change your mind once you get here.’










Three


With its vast number of independent galleries, music venues, bars, and even an open-air museum, Leimert Park, which was located in South LA, was better known for being the center for both historical and contemporary African-American art, music, and culture in the city of Los Angeles. Several internationally famous singers, musicians, and artists had started their careers in one of the many back-alley clubs and theaters in Leimert Park. The neighborhood was also a mere twenty-five minutes’ drive from Garcia’s house in West Hollywood.


Hunter tried urging Garcia to stay at his barbecue. After all, it was their day off and Garcia had guests in his house, but Hunter knew that his partner’s work ethic was just as rigorous as his own, and both of them understood the importance of experiencing a crime scene in situ, instead of studying it through photographs and written reports. So when Hunter suggested that Garcia stayed with Anna and their guests, Garcia’s reply was a simple ‘As if.’


Anna, who always understood the kind of commitment that her husband’s job required, had smiled kindly at him and Hunter as she read the ‘I’m so sorry’ expression on their faces.


‘Go make the world safer for everyone, boys,’ she said, putting on the bravest face that she could muster.


After turning left onto 4th Avenue from West Martin Luther King Boulevard, Garcia had to drive another block and a half before he saw the flashing police lights ahead of him. He parked on the road, just behind one of the three black-and-white LAPD cruisers that had practically barricaded the dark gray fronted house on the right.


The property in question had a three-foot-high brick wall surrounding it, with an old wood gate that was definitely in need of some restoration. The wall was there purely for aesthetic purposes, not security.


As they stepped out of Garcia’s Honda Civic, both detectives couldn’t fail to notice the uneasy tension that showed in the faces of all three uniformed officers standing by the black and yellow crime-scene tape that had been raised around the property. Whatever they’d seen inside that house, it had clearly disturbed them.


The perimeter extended all the way to the road, including the stretch of sidewalk directly in front of the house. As always, a large group of curious onlookers had already gathered around the perimeter, every single one of them with their smartphones in hand, eager to capture something a little more exciting than just crime-scene tape and uniformed officers.


With their badges clipped to their belts, Hunter and Garcia zigzagged through the crowd. At the perimeter’s edge, one of the officers greeted them with a head nod before lifting the tape for them to stoop under. As soon as they did, a tall, skinny man in a light-gray suit approached them. He had been standing by the house’s front door, idly staring at nothing at all, as if questioning existence itself.


‘Detective Hunter?’ he asked, as his evaluating gaze settled on the two new arrivals. His tie was loose and his collar button undone.


Hunter nodded.


Garcia adjusted his sunglasses on his nose.


‘I’m Detective Barnes,’ the man announced. ‘We spoke on the phone.’


Hunter introduced Garcia and they all shook hands.


‘Forensics hasn’t arrived yet?’ Garcia asked, failing to spot any forensics unit vehicles parked in the vicinity.


‘Like I said on the phone,’ Barnes replied, ‘this crime scene has UVC written all over it. I didn’t want to step on anyone’s toes here. Some detectives can be very particular about that. Plus, we all know that UVC can get a forensics team out to a scene a lot faster than regular Homicide, so I called you…’ he nodded at Hunter, ‘… and no one else. This is your show. You run it in whichever way you want. I was called to this scene by mistake. What I did do was set a perimeter so that the social-media vultures would keep their distance.’ He turned to look at the crowd on the other side of the tape. ‘Nowadays everyone is a cameraman… everyone is a reporter… everyone is a critic.’ Barnes shrugged disapprovingly. ‘None of us need any of that hassle.’


Hunter and Garcia nodded their understanding before Garcia reached for his cellphone. Barnes was right. The LAPD Ultra Violent Crimes Unit was at the very top of the priority chain when it came to certain requests.


Garcia quickly placed a call to the LAPD forensics unit.


‘The victim seems to be one Melissa Hawthorne,’ Barnes continued. ‘Twenty-nine years old, resident at this address. She lived alone.’


‘Seems to be?’ Garcia questioned.


Barnes’s lips stretched thin as he angled his head to one side. ‘I’m playing safe here because no proper tests have been conducted yet,’ he explained. ‘But you’ll understand once you get inside. Facial identification, done purely by sight, is damn near impossible, even for her sister.’ He paused to correct himself. ‘Stepsister, actually. She found the body.’


That was about to be Hunter’s next question.


Barnes breathed out before his squared chin jerked in the direction of one of the LAPD vehicles parked on the road.


‘Her name is Janet Lang,’ he said. ‘She’s sitting in that cruiser with a female officer. We had to give her something to calm her down. Hysterical doesn’t even begin to describe it.’ Barnes shook his head, as his eyes saddened. ‘What a total mind-fuck having to have that as the last image of your sister. I am so sorry for that girl. She’s only twenty-six.’


Hunter turned to face the cruiser that Barnes had indicated. Through its window, he could see an African-American woman with her face buried in the palms of her hands. Even at that distance, Hunter could see that she was shaking. Sitting next to her, with a comforting hand on her shoulder, was a female LAPD officer.


‘The officer at the door can provide you with shoe covers and latex gloves,’ Barnes informed them. ‘Nothing was touched. The scene is as in situ as it can be.’ He checked his watch. The time was coming up to 2 p.m. ‘Look, I need to get going. Just before you guys arrived, a call came in about a shooting in Baldwin Hills. That’s more my department.’


‘OK,’ Hunter said. ‘Thank you for your help here.’


Barnes took one step in the direction of the road but paused before turning to face the two UVC detectives again.


‘Good luck with this one,’ he said, in a tone that made it clear that he was happy that this would not end up being his investigation. ‘I really hope you guys catch this sonofabitch.’


Hunter and Garcia watched Detective Barnes duck under the crime-scene tape and jump into a blue Toyota Camry that was parked across the road. As he drove away, both detectives turned to face the house.


It was a small, single-story structure with a tiled hip roof and dark blue window frames. There was no porch. A curved walkway, made up of squared concrete slabs, led from the wooden gate at the three-foot brick wall to the front door. Surrounding the walkway was a well-cared-for lawn patch. There was no garage.


Despite the front door having been pulled almost to a close and the curtains on the two large windows at the front of the house being drawn shut, Hunter and Garcia could easily tell that the lights in the house’s first room were on. Credentials in hand, they walked up to the uniformed officer guarding the front door, who, just like Detective Barnes had told them, supplied them with elasticated plastic shoe covers and latex gloves.


As Hunter reached for the door handle, the officer, a short and stumpy man with a thick moustache and matching sideburns, took a step to his right and quickly crossed himself, reciting something in Spanish.


The front door opened straight into the house’s humble living room. One step was all that Hunter and Garcia managed before they saw her, just a little to their left, as the living room gave way to the open plan kitchen area. As they did, both detectives immediately came to a halt.


Garcia pulled his sunglasses from his face, his unblinking eyes nearly the size of poker chips.


‘What the actual fuck?’


Hunter stood completely still, while an uncomfortable knot began tying itself inside his throat.


‘In all your years in the force,’ Garcia asked Hunter, without breaking eye contact with the body, ‘detective or not, have you ever seen anything like this?’


Hunter’s reply came as a simple whisper.


‘No.’










Four


Melissa Hawthorne’s living room was a modest one, both in size and in furniture items. Rectangular in shape, it had a three-seater, red-fabric sofa and two mismatching armchairs facing a medium-sized flat-screen TV that hung from the north wall. On the floor, a worn-out shaggy rug and a glass coffee table centered the room. The kitchen, which was located to the left of the entry door, was small but well equipped, including a modern dishwasher and a five-burner stove with a double oven. The walls in the living room were adorned by colorful framed prints that differed in sizes. A couple of vases with fake flowers added a tranquil and homey feeling to the room, but without a doubt, the main features of that open-plan living/kitchen area were the two thick wood beams that ran parallel to each other, high above their heads, about a foot or so from the ceiling. And that had been where the killer had left the victim’s naked body. Hanging from the beam closest to the kitchen.


This wasn’t the first time that Hunter or Garcia had attended a crime scene where a victim hung from the ceiling, but what had made both of their skin crawl was the fact that the body wasn’t hanging by its neck.


The killer had used a climbing rope that had been thrown over the beam. At one end, the rope had been looped several times around the thick metal handle that ran across the front of the stove, before being secured in place with a triple knot. At the other end, the killer had attached a stainless steel, extra-large shark hook, and that was where things went from the crazy to the totally insane because the body hung from its mouth – as if the victim were a prized fish.


The hook had completely perforated the underside of the victim’s chin, savagely rupturing through skin and muscle, as it severed arteries and ripped nerves apart, before coming out through the mouth and suspending the body about two feet off the ground, via the mandible. That had been why Detective Barnes had mentioned that facial identification, done purely by sight, was practically impossible.


Being suspended in mid-air merely by her lower jaw forced the victim’s head back, making it look like she was staring at the ceiling and at the climbing rope that seemingly emerged out of her mouth. She was a petite and slim African-American woman who couldn’t have weighed any more than one hundred and twenty pounds at a push, but that had still been more than enough weight pressure to cause her jawbone to completely dislocate. One didn’t need to be a doctor to clearly see that both lower jaw joints had detached from her skull so severely that ligaments, nerves, tendons, and muscles had been shredded and torn, allowing her mandible to move gruesomely forward and out of line with the rest of her head. Her chin now sat about two inches past her nose.


From her open mouth and the wound under her chin, blood had cascaded down her neck, torso and legs to create an ugly and viscous pool of blood on the floor, directly beneath her feet. Her face was also completely covered in blood splatters.


To keep her from fighting and reaching for the rope, her hands had been tied behind her back, which made Hunter’s stomach churn, because it indicated that she was still alive when the killer pulled at the rope to lift her from the ground.


The second indication that she was still alive while that insanity had taken place was the swelling to her face and neck. It looked like someone had stuck a small balloon down her throat and then inflated it. The swelling, coupled with the weight pressure due to the fact that she was hanging from her jaw, meant that the skin and flesh around the lower half of her face had strained to such a degree that it was starting to tear, especially at the corners of her mouth.


‘Why do something like this to someone?’ Garcia asked, finally letting go of the breath that he’d been holding on to for quite a while. ‘This is just sick.’ He shook his head, as he tried to make sense of something so senseless. ‘It’s… pure evil.’


Hunter’s gaze broke away from the body at last, as he began taking in the surroundings. He also let go of a sad and tired breath.


‘That is the problem, Carlos,’ he replied, taking a couple of steps to his left to reach the kitchen area.


Garcia walked the other way, into the living room. Though he tried studying the rest of the room, he found it hard to break eye contact with the victim.


‘This does go way past being sick,’ Hunter continued. ‘Way beyond being evil. Someone would only take the time to do something like this to someone else if the whole act had a meaning.’ He reached the stove and began studying the climbing rope that knotted around the oven handle. ‘She was murdered this way for a reason… and that reason… has to be something very specific… very personal.’ From the stove, Hunter allowed his eyes to move along the rope and on to the fishing hook in the victim’s mouth. The hook, which looped through her chin and came out through her mouth, had also cracked and broken off several of her lower teeth.


‘This whole scene,’ Hunter said. ‘The murder, the staging, the props, all of it… was thought of, prepared, and executed with a lot of precision. Unless she was a climber and a fishing aficionado at the same time, these aren’t regular household items, Carlos. The killer wouldn’t have found these in a drawer somewhere in here.’


Garcia crossed to the other side of the living room.


‘He would’ve brought them with him,’ he said in conclusion.


Hunter nodded and Garcia knew exactly what that meant – this hadn’t been a spur-of-the-moment attack. All that savagery had been intentionally planned. Everything about this crime scene had a meaning.










Five


While they waited for a full forensics team to finally arrive at the house, Hunter and Garcia checked the rest of the property for signs of a break-in. They didn’t find any.


None of the windows were broken and none seemed to have been tampered with either. The front door, together with the one that led from the kitchen to the small courtyard at the back of the house, also seemed intact.


Inside Melissa Hawthorne’s bedroom, they did find her handbag on the bedside table. It contained a purse with eighteen dollars in cash, a few makeup items, her driver’s license, a packet of gum, two credit cards, a hairbrush and a couple of old shopping receipts – no cellphone. They checked every drawer, every pocket of every item of clothing in her wardrobe, and every handbag they could find inside the house – no phone. They checked under the bed, under the sofa and under its cushions – still no phone. Hunter and Garcia both found that very interesting.


They had just stepped back into the living room, when Dr. Susan Slater walked through the front door, immediately followed by three other forensics agents, all of them suited up in white, hooded coveralls. As their eyes found the victim hanging in mid-air by her mouth, all four of them stopped dead. Despite all their experience and all the terrifying brutality that they had seen over the years, they all seemed shocked.


‘Jesus!’ the youngest of the agents murmured, slowly placing the tools case he had with him on the floor. ‘Is that a fishing hook?’


‘That’s correct,’ Hunter replied.


‘Let’s get all this photographed, quick,’ Dr. Slater said, turning to address the team photographer.


‘I’m all over it,’ the young agent replied, adjusting his glasses on his nose and rounding the pool of blood on the floor to face the victim.


‘Robert, Carlos.’ Dr. Slater greeted both detectives with a simple head bob. ‘How long have you guys been here?’ She too approached the body.


Dr. Slater was one of the best and most accomplished lead forensics agents in the whole of California. In the past few years, she had led more forensics investigations for the UVC Unit than any other lead agent.


The other two team members began quickly setting up two powerful spotlights.


‘About forty minutes,’ Garcia replied. ‘Give or take.’


‘Single victim?’ the doctor asked. ‘Or are there any others?’ She gestured to indicate the rest of the house.


‘No, this is it,’ Hunter replied, taking a couple of steps back to allow the agents to do their jobs.


‘Any blood anywhere else?’ Dr. Slater asked, angling her head to have a better look at the hook protruding from the victim’s mouth. ‘Signs of a struggle?’


‘Not exactly,’ Garcia said. ‘The bed is unmade, which suggests that the victim didn’t make the bed in the morning, was in bed when she heard a noise and went to investigate, or she was attacked while she was in bed, but that’s all. No mess anywhere else, except for this.’ He gestured toward the victim.


‘This is… pretty grotesque,’ the doctor said, still studying the fish hook and the victim’s viciously dislodged jaw. A moment later, she allowed herself to slowly examine the rest of body. ‘Poor girl.’ She shook her head. ‘Just by looking at the swelling on her face and neck alone, I can tell you that she was still alive when that hook was pushed through her jaw.’ She paused and peeked at both detectives. ‘But you knew that already, didn’t you?’


‘I don’t see much of a reason to tie her hands behind her back,’ Garcia replied, ‘if not to stop her from fighting.’


The doctor agreed with a nod.


‘Lights on,’ one of the agents announced, as they finished setting up the two forensics lights. He flicked a switch and the room burned in ultra-bright whiteness.


Dr. Slater carefully rounded the body. ‘We are lucky to have the body in one piece.’


‘What do you mean?’ Garcia asked.


‘Her mandible is severely dislocated,’ she indicated as she explained. ‘Both of her jaw joints have completely come undone, which isn’t surprising, given that her whole body is being held up in mid-air exclusively by her lower jaw. The significant swelling indicates that ligaments and muscles have also ruptured around her neck and lower half of her face, and right here…’ The doctor indicated where the victim’s lower jaw was supposed to be attached to her skull. ‘You can see signs that the skin and some of the flesh are tearing.’


‘If she were any heavier,’ Hunter said, understanding what Dr. Slater was referring to, ‘maybe by about twenty more pounds, or so – there’s a chance that her jaw wouldn’t have held for as long as it has.’


‘That’s right,’ the doctor agreed. ‘But even at her low weight, I’d say that we aren’t that far from the total rupturing of muscles and ligaments, and tearing of the skin and flesh. If that had happened already, the body pressure would’ve caused her entire lower jaw to rip from her face and the body would’ve come crashing to the floor. No doubt an even more horrifying scene than what we already have here.’


Garcia cringed at the mental image.


‘Do you think that was the killer’s original intention?’ he asked, but immediately lifted his hands in surrender. He knew that Dr. Slater had no way of knowing that. ‘I’m sorry. Stupid question.’


‘Who knows,’ she replied anyway. ‘But it wouldn’t surprise me if it were. What I can tell you is that what seems to have kept it all together in the end was rigor mortis, which as we all know, toughens the muscle and ligament fibers. That hardening of the fibers has added a new resistance layer against all the tearing and rupturing.’ She used her thumb and forefinger to lightly squeeze the victim’s left biceps. ‘Rigor mortis is well on its way. Ballpark guess – I’d say that she’s been dead for at least ten hours. She was definitely murdered in the early hours of the morning. Not last night.’


Instinctively, Garcia consulted his watch. ‘I’ll instruct the officers outside to start a door-to-door,’ he told Hunter. ‘This road and a few of the neighboring ones as well. Maybe someone has noticed something out of the ordinary – a vehicle… someone wandering the streets… either late last night, or in the very early hours of this morning.’


Hunter nodded his agreement.


‘I’m done with the body,’ the photographer announced. ‘I’ll move on to the scene details.’


‘Great,’ Dr. Slater replied. ‘Let’s get her down.’ She turned to face the tallest of the agents in her team, who stood at six-foot one. ‘Shaun, while Mike and I hold her up, you unhook her from the rope.’


Shaun nodded and moved around to face the body.


‘Need any help?’ Hunter asked.


‘Nah, we’ll be OK,’ the doctor replied.


Hunter and Garcia stepped out of the way, while Dr. Slater and Mike lifted the body up to ease the pressure on her jaw. As they did, Shaun reached up to the hook.


‘Easy, Shaun,’ Dr. Slater cautioned him. ‘I’m sure that the hook has fractured her jaw in more ways than one. The bone might easily splinter.’


Shaun was as careful as he could be, and even so, it took him around a minute and a half to finally unhook Melissa Hawthorne from the rope. As the hook came free, a slab of flesh of about two squared inches fell onto the pool of blood, splattering some of it in all directions.


‘Damn,’ Garcia said, as he cringed.


‘We need to bag that,’ Dr. Slater said, nodding at it. ‘That’s her tongue.’










Six


Hunter and Garcia stayed with the forensics team until they were done processing the crime scene and the rest of the house. After that, instead of returning to Garcia’s barbeque, Hunter stepped outside to try to get as much information as he could out of Janet Lang, Melissa Hawthorne’s stepsister, while Garcia moved on to helping the uniformed officers with the door-to-door enquiries.


Forensics did find a couple of sets of fingerprints in the house. The first set was found in every room, clearly belonging to the victim herself, which was confirmed after a quick on-site analysis. The second set was found mainly in the living room/kitchen area, and though it was still to be confirmed, the assumption was that the prints belonged to the victim’s younger sister, Janet Lang, the person who had found the body.


Forensics had also collected a few different hairs and fibers that were found on the floor inside the victim’s bedroom and on her bed, but other than that and the props that the killer had used to hoist the victim up in the kitchen, nothing else was found that they deemed of any significance.


They also confirmed that there were no indications of forced entry anywhere – not on the doors, front and back, or on any of the windows.


The door-to-door had, so far, proved to be fairly unsuccessful. No one, not the next-door neighbors or anyone else on the victim’s street, had seen anything or anyone that they considered suspicious, either on Saturday night or in the early hours of Sunday morning. The next-door neighbors also reported hearing no loud noises either. No screams or sounds that could’ve been the result of a struggle.


‘This can’t have been this killer’s first crime,’ Garcia said, as he and Hunter got back to his car. ‘It’s too clean… too elaborate… too well thought out.’


Hunter paused and looked up at the star-filled sky. He couldn’t quite disagree with Garcia. It was a well-known fact that serial killers tended to refine their methods through time, escalating as they got more confident. Their first crimes, murder or not, tended to be a little sloppy… most of the time impulsive and badly planned. Very, very rarely would a killer go from ‘no murder at all’ to something sophisticated and well planned, like what they’d seen inside that house. When that happened, it almost always indicated a severe level of detachment in the perpetrator.


The lack of evidence left behind – fingerprints, DNA, footprints, forced entry, etc. – wasn’t that much of a surprise. With so many films and TV shows out there themed around CSI and forensics, anyone could learn the basics of suppressing evidence in one sitting.


True, there was no evidence at the moment to suggest that this had been the work of a serial killer, and both Hunter and Garcia hoped to high heaven that that was the case, but the principle was the same. Nothing in the crime scene looked like this was the killer’s first ever crime.


‘I know,’ Hunter said back.


‘Maybe we should check the national database,’ Garcia suggested. ‘Cross-referencing murders for anything similar…’ He thought about it for a heartbeat. ‘Or even remotely similar.’


Hunter nodded in agreement. ‘I’ll get Research onto it first thing in the morning.’










Seven


By nine o’clock the next morning, Dr. Carolyn Hove, the Chief Medical Examiner for the Los Angeles County Department of Medical Examiner – Coroner, had already scrubbed up and made her way into Autopsy Theater One, at the end of a long and brightly lit corridor, down in the basement of the main coroner’s building.


The LA County Department of Medical Examiner – Coroner was one of the busiest coroners in the whole of the USA, and despite its team of pathologists performing anywhere between twenty to forty autopsy examinations every day, the workload would still inevitably accumulate, especially over the weekends.


Most bodies, as they arrived at the LACDC, would be added to the back of the post mortem examination queue, but there were some exceptions to that rule. Cases marked as urgent by the investigating officers would usually take priority over certain other cases, but that priority would still be at the discretion of the Chief Medical Examiner. Another exception would be new arrivals that belonged to an investigation conducted by the LAPD UVC Unit. Due to the nature of their investigations, those would always take precedence even over urgent cases sent in by any other department, and that was why Melissa Hawthorne’s body had already been brought into Autopsy Theater One and transferred onto the second of the two large, stainless-steel autopsy tables at the center of the large sterile room.


Her body was lying on its back, uncovered, with her arms loosely resting by the sides of her torso. Livor mortis, the discoloration of the skin due to the gravitation of blood after death, had made her legs look significantly darker than the rest of her body. Her skin appeared waxy and rubbery, which indicated that she had been brought into the morgue and stored into a cold-storage locker just a little under twenty-four hours after her death.


‘Wow!’ Dr. Hove said, as she paused by the autopsy table. ‘This is… certainly something different.’


Though Melissa’s head was lying flat against the table surface, the damage to her jawbone, together with the rupture of her facial muscles and ligaments had been so severe that her chin was resting against her chest.


Nathan Reese, one of the three junior pathologists who usually assisted Dr. Hove, was standing to the left of the autopsy table.


‘How does something like this even happen?’ he asked, his eyes fixed on the body’s facial deformation. ‘I mean… did somebody just rip her mouth open until she was dead?’


‘She was hung by her mouth,’ Dr. Hove told him, reading from the admission file that she had with her. ‘The perp used a fish hook to do so.’


‘Jesus!’


‘I know.’ Dr. Hove put down the admission file and gloved up. ‘I take it that all the joints have been flexed, right?’


To make sure that rigor mortis had already come and gone, joint flexing was a normal procedure when dealing with new arrivals, where their post mortem examinations had been brought forward for one reason or another.


‘Yes, the orderly who brought her in has flexed them. We’re good to go, Doc.’


‘OK, let’s make a start.’


Nathan adjusted the microphone that hung from the ceiling, directly above the examination table and switched on the digital voice recorder.


Dr. Hove began by stating the date and time, followed by the assigned case number. Next, she spent a couple of minutes describing the general state of the body, before moving on to a much more detailed external analysis, where she began by studying the victim’s neck.


No strangulation bruises.


A quick touch-examination revealed that neither the larynx nor the trachea had collapsed. The hyoid bone in the victim’s neck also didn’t seemed to have been fractured in any way.


Dr. Hove used her thumb and index finger to pull open the victim’s eyelids. With the help of a magnifying glasses headset with a directional light, she carefully studied the victim’s ocular globe. As expected, her cornea was cloudy and opaque, but what the doctor was looking for was a phenomenon called petechiae – minute red specks that could be dotting the victim’s eyes and eyelids. Those signified tiny hemorrhages in blood vessels that, for a number of different reasons, could occur anywhere in the body, but when found in the eyes or eyelids were usually due to a blockage of the respiratory system, consistent with suffocation or asphyxiation.


The victim’s eyes and eyelids were both dotted with them.


‘Death resulted from lack of oxygen,’ Dr. Hove announced to the microphone. ‘That lack of oxygen did not derive from strangulation.’


‘Poor woman,’ Nathan said with a shake of the head. ‘No one deserves to die like this.’


Dr. Hove sent him a judging stare.


‘I know,’ he said, lifting both gloved hands. ‘I’m not getting emotional, Doc. I’m just making an observation that no human being deserves to go this way, that’s all.’


The rest of Melissa’s body’s external examination lasted another five minutes or so. It revealed no further surprises.


Next, the doctor needed to check all of the body’s cavities for signs of aggression, sexual or otherwise. She started with the vagina.


The skin all around the vulva, including both of the upper thighs, showed no bruises or hematomas – nothing that would give Dr. Hove any cause for concern.


Her next step was to examine the vagina’s internal walls, but she didn’t get that far.


As she used her thumb and index finger to spread the walls, she paused, her eyes squinting at something.


‘Hold on a sec,’ she said, angling her head to one side to get a better line of vision.


‘Something wrong?’ Nathan asked, repositioning himself around the autopsy table.


‘I’m not sure. Can you pass me a pair of locking forceps, please?’


‘Would you like the speculum as well?’ Nathan asked, handing Dr. Hove a pair of surgical locking forceps.


‘Maybe in a minute,’ Dr. Hove replied, as she inserted not much more than the tip of the forceps into the vagina. ‘It looks like a foreign object was left inside of her,’ she announced, for the benefit of the digital recording.


Behind her, Nathan bent over at the waist, trying to look over the doctor’s right shoulder. As he did, he heard the instrument in her hand click.


‘Got it,’ Dr. Hove said, before slowly extracting whatever it was that the forceps had clipped on to.


Securely gripped at the tip of the surgical instrument was a small, transparent, grip-seal plastic bag of about two square inches. It was clear to see that the bag wasn’t empty.


‘Are those drugs?’ Nathan asked.


Dr. Hove straightened up her body and lifted the forceps up to the light.


‘I’m not too sure.’


Once again, for the benefit of the digital recording, Dr. Hove dictated what she had retrieved and from where.


Nathan tilted his head left then right, trying to better understand what they were looking at.


Still keeping the bag at the tip of the forceps, Dr. Hove gave it a little shake.


‘It looks like we have a folded piece of white paper inside a plastic bag.’


‘A small paper envelope, perhaps?’ Nathan again.


‘I don’t think so.’ Dr. Hove shook her head, after looking at the bag through her magnifying glasses. ‘But let’s find out, shall we?’


She flipped the glasses back up onto the headset then turned around and placed the small bag on a stainless-steel worktop.


Nathan quickly joined her.


From the instruments tray, Dr. Hove retrieved a second pair of locking forceps. It didn’t take her long to pull open the bag’s grip-seal and extract the folded piece of paper from inside.


‘It doesn’t look like a drugs envelope,’ Nathan commented.


Dr. Hove’s eyes moved to him.


‘I’m just saying.’ Nathan gave her a shrug.


‘It doesn’t look like an envelope at all,’ she agreed before using both forceps to finally unfold the strip of paper, which had been folded three times. As she undid the last fold, she paused.


‘What the hell?’ Nathan said from behind Dr. Hove. ‘What does that even mean?’


‘It means that we better call the UVC Unit.’










Eight


For Hunter, that Monday morning started with a trip back to Melissa Hawthorne’s house. He got there before the sun was up.


Albeit necessary, the forensics circus provided a craziness of movement, people, noise, and lights that was a whole world away from what the original crime scene would have been like. Hunter wanted to walk the scene alone, no distractions, with the lights out and with the house as quiet and as still as it would’ve been just before Melissa was killed.


He didn’t really believe in premonition, omen, clairvoyance, or whatever name people liked to call it. He also didn’t believe that by revisiting the crime scene on his own, he would somehow get abrupt visions of what had really happened in there. What he did believe in, what he knew existed was evil… the human kind… the kind that could lead someone to rip the life out of a young woman in one of the vilest ways Hunter had ever seen. And evil, sometimes, would leave clues behind.


That morning, Hunter spent almost two hours inside Melissa Hawthorne’s house. Most of that time was spent in the living room/kitchen area. The pool of blood had been cleaned from the floor, but a stain still remained, marking the exact location where a young woman had been robbed of her life. The room now also carried a particular smell that came with the aftermath of every crime scene. It wasn’t the putrid smell of decomposition. That was a very different smell all together, and Melissa Hawthorne’s body had been days away from entering that stage when found. No, this was a peculiar smell – part sweet, part heavy iron, and part disinfectant agents. The crime scene clean up team had, once again, done their job well.


Standing in the exact spot where Melissa’s body had been found, his feet at the center of where the pool of blood had once been, arms sunk to his sides, Hunter looked up at the ceiling, stretching his neck until he couldn’t anymore. He held his head in that position for a few seconds before moving his chin forward as much as he possibly could to also stretch his lower jaw. As he did, he felt a pull under his tongue, followed by his throat constricting.


Hunter held himself in that new position for several seconds, trying as best as he could to imagine Melissa Hawthorne’s agony… her desperation… her pain… her panic… her terror… because she knew that no one was coming for her. She knew she would die.


All of a sudden, the skin on both of his arms turned into gooseflesh and he felt as if something was trying to dig a hole into his stomach.


And there it was, as if Hunter could sense it – evil. Its ugly, invisible presence somehow still lingering in the air… still embedded in those walls, like some sort of ‘catch me if you can’ tease.


Hunter lasted less than a minute in that position before he had to let go.


He stepped back from the bloodstain on the floor and looked around the kitchen one last time.


The gooseflesh didn’t go away.


The pit in his stomach didn’t go away.


True, death and evil had stained that house for ever, but what had really left Hunter with a very bad taste in his mouth was that he knew from experience that that sort of evil, personal or not, very rarely came in a single dose. More often than not, the urge to hurt… to kill again… was too strong, practically impossible to contain. It was just a matter of time.










Nine


The LAPD’s Ultra Violent Crimes Unit’s office was located at the far end of the Robbery Homicide Division’s floor, inside the famous Police Administration Building in Downtown LA. When Hunter got there, about half an hour after leaving Melissa Hawthorne’s house, Garcia was standing before the picture board, which was pushed up against the south wall. He had just finished pinning up the last of the forensics photos they had received from CSI.


‘Morning,’ Hunter said, placing his jacket on the back of his chair and firing up his computer.


‘The more I look at these,’ Garcia replied, his eyes never leaving the board, ‘the less sense they make.’


Hunter didn’t join Garcia by the board. He didn’t take a seat at his desk either. In silence, he simply looked at the photos from where he was standing.


‘Yes,’ Garcia continued, ‘I know that every murder, especially the ones assigned to our unit, are in essence, senseless, but I’m not talking about the crime itself, or the motive, or the fact that this kind of sadism has to be a personal affair. I’m talking about the method.’ He shook his head as his eyes slowly moved from one picture to another. ‘This killer didn’t strangle her, he didn’t cut her into pieces, he didn’t gut her, he didn’t even eat her flesh. No, he really did string her out by her mouth… like a fish… in her own living room. “Senseless” doesn’t quite cut it here.’


Before Hunter could say anything, the captain of the LAPD’s Robbery Homicide Division, Barbara Blake, pushed open the door to their office and stepped inside. Without acknowledging either detective, she walked straight up to the picture board and paused next to Garcia, her eyes taking in the photos, her brain trying to understand them.


‘What in the hell of hells?’ she murmured to herself.


‘Good morning, Captain,’ Garcia said, his stare moving to her for just an instant.


The captain’s long, auburn hair was elegantly styled into a twisted bun. She wore a white silk blouse that was neatly tucked into a black tube skirt and black low-heel shoes. Her makeup was subtle, professional, and still very feminine. Her dainty earrings matched her black beaded necklace. In her right hand, she held a case file.


It took her a few more seconds before she looked back at Garcia, then at Hunter.


‘What the hell is wrong with humanity?’ she said, her voice sad and angry in equal measures. ‘Why? What would be the point in doing something like this to another human being?’


‘Because it means something to the killer,’ Hunter replied, finally taking a seat at his desk.


‘What does?’ Captain Blake pushed.


‘All of it, Captain,’ Hunter replied before his gaze moved to Garcia. ‘All that senselessness. Everything you see on those pictures. It all means something to the killer.’


She allowed her eyes to study on the horror displayed on that board for a moment longer. ‘Including the victim?’


‘Especially the victim,’ Garcia was the one who replied. ‘This is too up close and personal, Captain… too intimate.’


‘Personal as in – the killer wanted her in particular?’ The captain pointed at a photo of Melissa Hawthorne. ‘Or are we talking about what the victim represents?’


Hunter sat back on his chair. ‘Are you asking us if we think this is a hate crime?’


‘I am,’ the captain confirmed, broadly gesturing at the board. ‘Because to me, this is the image of “hate”… pure hate… pure ignorance. The kind of hate and ignorance that very few people are capable of, and among those who are, I can’t discard race fanatics.’ She paused, taking a breath to steady her voice. ‘Since the Black Lives Matter movement, a lot of good in this country’s racial divide has occurred, but at the same time, little pockets of ultra-extreme racists have sprung up just about everywhere. Many of them right here in LA. You both know that. And this exact same question will be asked by the press, by the Chief of Police, by the Mayor, and probably by the Governor of California as well, so let me ask you again because we won’t be able to escape it – do you think that this is race-related?’


‘Right now, nothing can be discarded, Captain,’ Garcia replied first. ‘We don’t know much at this point. It’s been less than twenty-four hours since she’s been murdered, but we’re working on it.’


Captain Blake’s attention returned to the board. A few seconds later, her slim index finger pointed at a specific photo. ‘What sort of oversized fishing hook is this? Can it be traced?’


‘It’s a giant shark hook,’ Garcia replied. ‘Also used for alligators. Stainless steel. It can withstand in excess of nine hundred pounds of weight.’


The captain pursed her lips as she looked back at her detective. ‘People fish for alligators?’


‘They do.’ Hunter, this time.


‘In California?’ she challenged.


‘That’s just it, Captain,’ Garcia took the lead again. ‘The hook can be used for alligators, as well as sharks, or any large fish – tuna, swordfish, you name it – and those, we’ve got plenty of over here.’


‘So tracing the hook is out of the question?’


‘Practically impossible,’ Garcia informed her. ‘It could’ve been bought online from any fishing shop anywhere on the planet, not to mention a private sale via eBay, or any of the many private sale sites that can be found online.’


Captain Blake took a step back from the board. ‘OK, so who is she? Do we know that much?’


Hunter reached for his notepad.


‘Her name was Melissa Hawthorne,’ he read from it. ‘Twenty-nine years of age, born right here in Los Angeles and a resident of Leimert Park. She lived alone and was a hairstylist. Worked for a small independent hair salon called Hues of Curls on Crenshaw Boulevard. Not that far from where she lived, actually. Her mother, Joanna, passed away a year and a half ago – cancer.’


‘How about her father?’ the captain queried.


‘Her biological father has been out of the picture from the get-go,’ Hunter told her. ‘From what we understand, Melissa never met him. For the next five years, Mrs. Hawthorne had a string of different live-in boyfriends, until she remarried Clayton Lang.’


Captain Blake shifted on her feet. ‘Any history of abuse by any of the live-in boyfriends?’


‘We’re looking into it,’ Hunter informed her before moving on. ‘Mr. Lang also had a daughter from a previous relationship – Janet – three years Melissa’s junior. Despite the two girls not being blood sisters, they got along as if they were twins. Janet was the one who found the body.’Captain Blake momentarily closed her eyes and used the tip of her index finger to lightly rub between her eyebrows. ‘When was that?’


‘Yesterday at around 11:30 a.m.’ Hunter flipped a page on the notepad. ‘Melissa and Janet were supposed to have gone jogging in Kenneth Hahn Lower Park, prior to going out for brunch around the same area. Meeting time was 11 a.m. After a few text messages and a couple of unanswered calls to her sister, Janet got worried and decided to drop by. The front door was left unlocked.’


‘Anybody else had keys to her house? Boyfriend?’


‘According to her sister, only Janet herself had a copy. Melissa had no boyfriend. At least not anymore.’


‘And that means what, exactly?’ Captain Blake asked, frowning at Hunter.


‘It means that she did have a boyfriend, but they split up some time ago. Janet wasn’t exactly sure when, but it was less than a year ago.’


‘Do we have a name for this ex-boyfriend?’ the captain pushed. ‘Maybe he had a key and never gave it back. Do we know why the relationship ended?’


‘His name is Kevin Garrison. The information we got from Janet is that the relationship ended because he was cheating on Miss Hawthorne.’


Captain Blake pulled a face that practically spelled the word ‘typical’.


‘That’s all we have on him so far,’ Hunter continued. ‘But we’ll find him. There are a lot of people we need to talk to.’


‘Who are you starting with?’


‘Janet and Melissa were both at a friend’s birthday party on Saturday evening,’ Hunter read from his notes. ‘The friend’s name is Kelly-Ann Teller. According to Janet, Miss Teller and Melissa were best friends.’


‘What time did they leave the party?’ Blake asked. ‘The two sisters?’


‘They didn’t leave together,’ Hunter explained. ‘Janet was there with her boyfriend and they left sometime after midnight. Melissa stayed behind.’


‘How did she get home? Did she drive?’


‘No. She doesn’t own a car. We suppose she took a cab, but we don’t know for certain yet. We’ll be talking to Kelly-Ann Teller today. Hopefully we’ll get a list of all the guests that were at her party on Saturday evening and then talk to each one individually. Also, since she was Miss Hawthorne’s best friend, Miss Teller might know a little more about Kevin, the ex-boyfriend.’


‘Did the victim go to this party by herself?’ Captain Blake looked at Hunter. ‘Or did she take a date? Do we know?’


‘According to her sister, Miss Hawthorne went to the party on her own, but here comes the kicker: she mentioned about going to the party on her social media… several times. In fact, she first mentioned it over a week ago. She even posted the date and the location.’


Captain Blake allowed her head to drop, as if defeated. ‘Unbelievable. When will people learn to stop publicizing their lives?’ She breathed out disappointment. ‘How about her phone? Any calls to or from her phone on that night?’


‘We don’t know yet. Her phone hasn’t been found.’


Captain Blake’s brow creased as she looked back at her detectives.


‘We looked everywhere,’ Hunter reassured her. ‘The phone is gone. We tried tracing it last night. The signal is dead.’


‘So it’s been destroyed.’ Captain Blake didn’t phrase it as a question.


‘Most probably,’ Hunter confirmed. ‘We’re getting in touch with her network provider for a copy of everything – text messages, phone calls, whatever we can get.’


‘OK,’ Captain Blake nodded at Hunter before facing Garcia again. ‘Go on.’


‘That’s it,’ he informed her. ‘Janet Lang was in shock and could barely put a sentence together, which is no real surprise.’ His head tilted slightly towards the picture board. ‘It took Robert over an hour and a lot of patience just to squeeze this much information out of her.’


‘I’ll try again either later today or tomorrow morning,’ Hunter said.


‘How about this Clayton Lang?’ the captain asked. ‘Janet’s father, any history on him?’


‘He’s also passed away around four years ago,’ Hunter said. ‘Heart attack. From what we understand, he was a great stepfather to Melissa.’


Captain Blake’s gaze returned to the board. ‘This ex-boyfriend of hers… Kevin, right?’


Garcia nodded.


‘Any idea if he was involved in gang activity?’


Both detectives knew the reason for the captain’s question. She was correct about the fact that the kind of hate and ignorance that the pictures on that board depicted was indeed a special kind. The kind that very few people were capable of, and certain LA gangs were internationally known for the brutality and sadism of some of their acts. Especially when those acts were intended as a lesson to others, or as revenge.


‘Like Robert said, Captain,’ Garcia said, ‘we know basically nothing about this Kevin Garrison character, but we already talked to Captain Carmona of the LAPD Gang and Narcotics Division.’ He shook his head as he indicated the board again. ‘He’s never seen or heard of anything like this before. If this is the work of a gang, it’s something brand new.’


Right then, Hunter’s desk phone rang.


‘Detective Hunter,’ he said, bringing the receiver to his ear. ‘UVC Unit.’


‘Robert, it’s Carolyn.’


Dr. Hove’s velvety but strong voice was no stranger to Hunter’s ears.


‘I’m done with the autopsy of case…’ She read the case file number to Hunter. ‘African-American female – I understand that this is your investigation?’


‘That’s correct, Doc. Any interesting findings?’


Dr. Hove chuckled, but it carried no humor. ‘Yes, I’d say so. May I suggest you drop by to have a look?’


‘Have a look?’


Garcia and Captain Blake’s stare asked Hunter the same silent question.


‘It appears that whoever strung your victim up by the mouth left you a little present.’


‘Such as?’


‘We found a note.’


‘A note?’


Hard frowns from Garcia and Captain Blake.


‘Where?’ Hunter asked.


‘It was left inside of her.’


Hunter knew exactly what that meant.


‘OK, we’re on our way.’










Ten


The main building at the LA County Department of Coroner was, in every sense, an impressive piece of architecture, clearly influenced by the Renaissance style. The façade of the old hospital turned morgue was a stylish combination of red bricks and light-gray lintels. The extravagant entrance stairway was flanked by a couple of gothic-looking lampposts, which added an extra pinch of charm to a beautiful building that ironically sheltered nothing but death.


In morning traffic, the short drive from the Police Administration Building to the LACDC took Hunter and Garcia just under ten minutes. As they stepped into the entrance lobby, Martha, the Jamaican receptionist with kind eyes and plumb cheeks, nodded courteously at them. She had perfectly mastered the art of the solemn-respectful face. Her greeting smiles were always gentle and polite, her facial expressions showed compassion and understanding, and her tone of voice had an almost soothing quality to it.


‘Detectives,’ she greeted Hunter and Garcia as they approached the reception counter, already placing two visitor badges on it.


‘Martha,’ Hunter replied, returning the courteous nod. ‘How are the kids?’


‘More expensive than ever,’ she replied with a roll of the eyes. ‘I hope you’ve been keeping well.’ She pushed the visitor badges toward both of them. ‘Dr. Hove is expecting you. She’s in Autopsy Theater One, down in the basement.’


Hunter and Garcia had been to the LACDC so many times that they could practically navigate every corridor… in every floor… in every building… blindfolded.


Martha buzzed them through the security gate and they made their way to the staircase just past and to the right of the reception counter.


In the basement, they turned right at the end of the first corridor then left at the end of the following one. Directly in front of them was a set of double swing-doors.


The plate above the doors read: ‘Autopsy Theater One’. Hunter pressed the button on the intercom and waited. Three seconds later, the door buzzed open and Hunter and Garcia stepped inside the large, winter-cold room, illuminated by two rows of fluorescent lights that ran the length of the ceiling. Two stainless steel autopsy tables dominated the main floor space – one fixed, one wheeled. Each was occupied by a body, covered by a white sheet. The two circular surgical-lights above both examination tables were switched off. A hospital-style gurney was parked next to a wall of body fridges. Dr. Hove was standing by the second examination table – the fixed one. She wore blue latex gloves and a long, white lab coverall over her regular clothes.


‘Robert, Carlos.’ She greeted each of them with a subdued head bob.


‘We have a note?’ Garcia asked, losing no time.


‘Come have a look and I’ll guide you through everything.’ Dr. Hove gestured them closer as she spoke.


Hunter and Garcia gloved up and approached the autopsy table. Dr. Hove reached over, grabbed the two top extremities of the white sheet that covered the body and pulled it down to the body’s waist.


‘Oh Jesus, Doc!’ Garcia gasped, his head jerking back slightly.


Hunter didn’t flinch.


The body on the table in front of them was that of Melissa Hawthorne, but her face was now incomplete. The entire lower jaw was missing.


As part of the post-mortem examination, Dr. Hove had to cut through what was left of skin, muscles, tendons and ligaments, and remove the mandible in its entirety to determine the extent of the damage caused by the fishing hook and the pressure exerted on her jaw.


‘What?’ Dr. Hove asked. ‘I thought you were at the crime scene.’


‘I was, but so was her jaw. Dislocated and hanging by a thread, but it was still there.’


‘You’ve seen… similar. I know that.’


‘Similar, yes,’ Garcia accepted. ‘But even you have to admit that this is something else.’


The doctor’s lips squeezed into a thin line. ‘Yes, this is definitely something else.’


‘So what have we got, Doc?’ Hunter asked.


‘Well,’ Dr. Hove began. ‘Just like Carlos mentioned, her mandible was severely dislocated. It was also fractured in nine different places.’


Garcia grimaced again.


‘I’m going to skip the whole anatomical explanation about ruptured muscles and what have you because none of that would really interest you, but this will.’ Dr. Hove guided their attention to something on a stainless steel worktop to her left. ‘Her tongue was deliberately severed. Not by the hook that was forced into her mouth, but by a sharp instrument, something like a scalpel or a pair of scissors. The cut was clean.’


Garcia peeked at Hunter, who kept his full attention on Dr. Hove. They both knew that a victim’s tongue being deliberately severed by a perpetrator could signify an act of revenge – payback for something that the victim had maybe said, or could’ve said.


‘What’s the official cause of death?’ Hunter asked.


‘It’s actually a combination. She half suffocated, half drowned – both in her own blood.’


‘Fuck!’ Garcia breathed out, momentarily closing his eyes.


‘The wound to her lower jaw was brutal,’ Dr. Hove explained. ‘Savagely so, and unfortunately, as I’m sure you already know, she was alive through it all.’


Hunter nodded once.


‘I have no doubt that she passed out from the sheer pain of the perforation,’ the doctor said. ‘Without anesthesia, no one would be strong enough to withstand that sort of pain.’ She drew everyone’s attention back to the body. ‘Despite the tremendous pain and the viciousness of the attack, the wound to her jaw didn’t kill her. What it did do was fill her mouth with blood… too much blood.’


Garcia uncomfortably shifted his weight from one foot to another.


‘In any other position,’ Dr. Hove added, ‘sitting down… laying down… standing up… whatever, she would’ve been able to spit out some of the blood from her mouth, but strung out through her jaw…’ To demonstrate, the doctor threw her head back as far as it could go. ‘This position is severely problematic for two reasons. One…’ She pointed to her own throat. ‘It constricts the throat, making swallowing anything, even saliva, a difficult job. Two – it creates a gravitational pull, so all the blood that inundated her mouth had nowhere else to go but down.’ She indicated with her index finger. ‘If she still had her tongue, she could’ve maybe moved it up and down, pushing some of the blood out of her mouth.’


‘But the tongue was gone,’ Garcia said, his eyes going back to the deformed face on the autopsy table.


Dr. Hove nodded. ‘Her tongue was gone. All the blood in her mouth had nowhere else to go but down to her already constricted throat. She swallowed some, of course, but it was too much blood. In time, it obstructed her respiratory system. Blood was found inside her lungs, just like water is found in the lungs of a drowning victim. Like I said, she partially drowned, partially suffocated. Her eyes were dotted with petechiae. Blood toxicology will still be a couple of days, but I suppose that she was sedated before being tied up.’


Silence ruled the room for a moment.


‘How long do you think she would’ve lasted before she finally suffocated?’ Hunter asked.


‘Not very long,’ Dr. Hove confirmed. ‘Just a matter of minutes, really, but even seconds would’ve felt like an eternity for her. The pain… the agony… the desperation to take in oxygen.’ She shook her head in disgust. ‘This woman’s last few minutes on this planet were undoubtedly the most painful minutes of her entire life.’


Another silent moment went by before Garcia spoke.


‘Was she sexually assaulted?’ he asked.


‘Not in the way that you are thinking. She wasn’t raped,’ Dr. Hove explained, as she turned to direct their attention to a strip of paper on the instruments trolley. ‘But this was left inside her vaginal canal.’


Hunter and Garcia approached the trolley.


The strip of paper contained a single, handwritten sentence:


‘Through these eyes, no one will ever look as perfect as you did.’










Eleven


‘ “Through these eyes,” ’ Garcia quoted, as soon as he and Hunter got back into his car, ‘ “no one will ever look as perfect as you did”? What the hell do you think that means?’


Hunter pressed his lips together as he shook his head. ‘I’m not really sure. It could be a love poem… or a line from a poem. It could be the lyrics to a song… a line from a movie… or something that the perp wrote himself.’


‘So you never seen it before?’ Garcia asked.


Hunter frowned at him. ‘No. Why would I?’


‘Because you read a hell of a lot… a lot more than I do. Just gambling on the chance that you had come across it somewhere.’


‘Not that I can remember, but I’ll get Research on it.’


Once they got back at the Police Administration Building, Hunter and Garcia decided to split the afternoon workload. Garcia went to see Kelly-Ann Teller, Melissa Hawthorne’s friend, whose party she was at on Saturday evening, while Hunter was once again tasked with trying to interview Melissa’s stepsister, Janet, who shared a small one-bedroom flat with her boyfriend, Thomas Molina. The apartment was located less than five blocks away from Melissa’s house.


Hunter parked on the street, directly in front of Janet’s apartment block. It was a simple building, with a dirty yellow façade, white windows and a couple of small balconies showing at the front of it. The intercom at the entrance didn’t work, but the lock mechanism at the front door was busted, which meant that the door never really locked. Hunter pushed it open and took the stairs up to the first floor.


Janet’s apartment was number 102, the second door on the right down a narrow, windowless corridor, where one of the two fluorescent tubes along the ceiling flickered on and off like a strobe light. There was no doorbell. Hunter knocked three times and waited. He had called beforehand and spoken to Thomas, Janet’s boyfriend, who had said that he wasn’t sure how much help Janet could be. She was still in shock and since yesterday had barely done anything else but cry. Last night, after a hysterical episode, she’d had to be sedated to fall asleep.


Hunter had been in that same situation so many times that he had lost count. More often than not, interviewing someone who was still in shock resulted in either very unreliable information, or absolutely nothing at all, but Janet hadn’t been an eyewitness to a crime. What Hunter wanted to ask her didn’t rely on her immediate memory.


He was about to knock again when he heard heavy footsteps approaching from inside. The peephole darkened and Hunter held up his credentials. A couple of seconds later, the door unlocked and it was pulled open by a well-built, six-foot-one African-American man, wearing black jogging trousers and a purple and yellow LA Lakers jersey with the number eight across his chest. His exposed arms were covered in black-and-gray tattoos. His hair was cut short, military style, and his seven o’clock shadow had been expertly trimmed to accentuate his jaw. He looked to be around twenty-five years old.


‘Thomas Molina?’ Hunter asked, locking eyes with the man, who regarded Hunter and his credentials for another few seconds. ‘I’m Detective Robert Hunter of the LAPD. We spoke on the phone earlier.’


‘Call me Tom,’ the man replied, his voice matching his strong frame. ‘Only my mother calls me Thomas, and she only does it when she’s angry.’


Hunter waited, but Tom said nothing else.


‘Is it OK if I come in?’


Tom hesitated for a moment. ‘I don’t know, man. Like I said on the phone, since yesterday, Janet has done nothing else but cry, sometimes hysterically. She’s finally calmed down for a little. Talking to her will just start things up again.’


‘I understand, Tom, and if it were an option, I would not bother Miss Lang or you, but it really is important to our investigation that I talk to her. I’ll be as brief as I possibly can.’


Tom’s head angled to one side as he considered Hunter’s words. ‘Alright, come in,’ he finally agreed, pulling the door fully open and taking a step to his left.


‘Thank you.’


The front door opened directly into the apartment’s living room, which was small and modestly furnished. Janet was sitting by the room’s only window, which faced west, at a small circular table with four chairs. On the table next to her was a small plate with an uneaten ham and cheese sandwich and a glass of milk.


She didn’t acknowledge Hunter.


‘I told you, bro,’ Tom whispered, as he gestured towards Janet. ‘She ain’t talking much. She ain’t even eating.’


Janet Lang seemed to be a couple of inches taller and maybe twenty pounds heavier than her sister. Her black hair was cut low to the nape of her neck, framing an almond-shaped face. Her eyes were wide, but slightly tilted up at the corners. Her skin was also half a shade lighter than Melissa’s. Her arms were slender and her hands small and delicate. Most of the red varnish on her fingernails was chipped.


‘Has she taken any medication in the past two to three hours?’ Hunter asked. ‘Sedatives… anything?’


‘No, bro, nothing,’ Tom replied.


Hunter nodded his understanding before approaching the table and taking a seat across from Janet.


Her eyes didn’t move from the world outside her window.


‘Hello, Miss Lang,’ he said in a steady, almost doctor-like voice. ‘Remember me? I’m Detective Robert Hunter. We spoke yesterday.’


No movement from Janet, except for tears that started to well up in her eyes again.


‘Miss Lang,’ Hunter began. ‘I know that this is terribly hard for you right now. I know that you don’t feel like talking… not to me or anyone, but if I could ask you just a few more questions, it could really help our investigation.’ He paused and waited.


Without looking back at Hunter, Janet squeezed her eyes and tears began running down her cheeks. She swallowed dry.


From his jacket pocket, Hunter retrieved a paper tissue and offered it to Janet.


She didn’t take it.


From experience, Hunter knew that in general, the best approach in these situations was to simply ask the first question. That was exactly what he was about to do when Janet beat him to the punch.


‘Why?’ she asked, as a teardrop ran to the tip of her nose. ‘Why would someone do something like that to Mel?’


Hunter understood that Janet wasn’t really expecting a reply because no reply would ever make sense. She was just venting her anger… her anguish… her pain. He stayed silent, allowing her to carry on.


‘Did you see what was done to my sister?’ There was so much pain in Janet’s voice that it squeaked at times. ‘Did you see her face… her mouth? What kind of monster could do something like that to another human being? To someone like Mel?’


She broke down in sobs, as her entire body shook with emotion.


Hunter felt an odd sadness wrap itself around his heart and slowly begin to squeeze. Those sobs… that pain… that was just the beginning for what was to come for Janet Lang. Finding the tortured and mutilated body of a loved one had the power to do much more than just fracture a human mind on the spot. It could completely obliterate it. Only time would tell the sort of damage that Janet’s psyche had sustained.


Hunter didn’t push. Instead, he allowed his gaze to move on to a shelving unit on the corner, where several photographs were displayed in picture frames. Melissa appeared in most of them. Always smiling a smile that seemed bigger than her… bigger than the world. Janet’s framed high school diploma split the photo frames into two groups.


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Cormorant-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/EBGaramond-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/EBGaramond-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Roboto-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Roboto-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Roboto-Italic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Roboto-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Cormorant-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/EBGaramond-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/xhtml/nav.xhtml




Contents





		Cover



		Title Page



		Dedication



		Content Warning



		Chapter One



		Chapter Two



		Chapter Three



		Chapter Four



		Chapter Five



		Chapter Six



		Chapter Seven



		Chapter Eight



		Chapter Nine



		Chapter Ten



		Chapter Eleven



		Chapter Twelve



		Chapter Thirteen



		Chapter Fourteen



		Chapter Fifteen



		Chapter Sixteen



		Chapter Seventeen



		Chapter Eighteen



		Chapter Nineteen



		Chapter Twenty



		Chapter Twenty-One



		Chapter Twenty-Two



		Chapter Twenty-Three



		Chapter Twenty-Four



		Chapter Twenty-Five



		Chapter Twenty-Six



		Chapter Twenty-Seven



		Chapter Twenty-Eight



		Chapter Twenty-Nine



		Chapter Thirty



		Chapter Thirty-One



		Chapter Thirty-Two



		Chapter Thirty-Three



		Chapter Thirty-Four



		Chapter Thirty-Five



		Chapter Thirty-Six



		Chapter Thirty-Seven



		Chapter Thirty-Eight



		Chapter Thirty-Nine



		Chapter Forty



		Chapter Forty-One



		Chapter Forty-Two



		Chapter Forty-Three



		Chapter Forty-Four



		Chapter Forty-Five



		Chapter Forty-Six



		Chapter Forty-Seven



		Chapter Forty-Eight



		Chapter Forty-Nine



		Chapter Fifty



		Chapter Fifty-One



		Chapter Fifty-Two



		Chapter Fifty-Three



		Chapter Fifty-Four



		Chapter Fifty-Five



		Chapter Fifty-Six



		Chapter Fifty-Seven



		Chapter Fifty-Eight



		Chapter Fifty-Nine



		Chapter Sixty



		Chapter Sixty-One



		Chapter Sixty-Two



		Chapter Sixty-Three



		Chapter Sixty-Four



		Chapter Sixty-Five



		Chapter Sixty-Six



		Chapter Sixty-Seven



		Chapter Sixty-Eight



		Chapter Sixty-Nine



		Chapter Seventy



		Chapter Seventy-One



		Chapter Seventy-Two



		Chapter Seventy-Three



		Chapter Seventy-Four



		Chapter Seventy-Five



		Chapter Seventy-Six



		Chapter Seventy-Seven



		Chapter Seventy-Eight



		Chapter Seventy-Nine



		Chapter Eighty



		Chapter Eighty-One



		Chapter Eighty-Two



		Chapter Eighty-Three



		Chapter Eighty-Four



		Chapter Eighty-Five



		Chapter Eighty-Six



		Chapter Eighty-Seven



		Chapter Eighty-Eight



		Chapter Eighty-Nine



		Chapter Ninety



		Chapter Ninety-One



		Chapter Ninety-Two



		Chapter Ninety-Three



		Chapter Ninety-Four



		Chapter Ninety-Five



		Chapter Ninety-Six



		Chapter Ninety-Seven



		Chapter Ninety-Eight



		Chapter Ninety-Nine



		Acknowledgments



		Copyright











Guide





		Cover



		Start of Content



		Title Page



		Dedication



		Acknowledgments



		Copyright













		IV



		V



		VII



		VIII



		IX



		X



		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54



		55



		56



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		82



		83



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		102



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		116



		117



		118



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		234



		235



		236



		237



		238



		239



		240



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		250



		251



		252



		253



		254



		255



		256



		257



		258



		259



		260



		261



		262



		263



		264



		265



		266



		267



		268



		269



		270



		271



		272



		273



		274



		275



		276



		277



		278



		279



		280



		281



		282



		283



		284



		285



		286



		287



		288



		289



		290



		291



		292



		293



		294



		295



		296



		297



		298



		299



		300



		301



		302



		303



		304



		305



		306



		307



		308



		309



		310



		311



		312



		313



		314



		315



		316



		317



		318



		319



		320



		321



		322



		323



		324



		325



		326



		327



		328



		329



		330



		331



		332



		333



		334



		335



		336



		337



		338



		339



		340



		341



		342



		343



		344



		345



		346



		347



		348



		349



		350



		351



		352



		353



		354



		355



		356



		357



		358



		359



		360



		361



		362



		363



		364



		365



		366



		367



		368



		369



		370



		371



		372



		373



		374



		375



		376



		377



		378



		379



		380



		381



		382



		383



		384



		385



		386



		387



		388



		389



		390



		391



		392



		393



		394



		395



		396



		397



		398



		399



		400



		401



		402



		403



		404



		405



		406



		407



		408



		409



		410



		411



		412



		413



		414



		415



		416



		417



		418



		419



		420



		421



		422



		423



		424



		425



		426



		427



		428



		429



		430



		431



		432



		433



		434



		435



		436



		437



		438



		439



		440



		441



		442



		443



		444



		445



		446



		447



		448



		449



		450



		451



		452



		453



		454



		455



		456



		457



		458



		459



		460



		461



		462



		463



		464



		465



		466



		467



		468



		469



		470



		471



		472



		473



		474



		475



		476



		477



		478



		479



		480



		481



		482



		483



		484



		485



		486



		487



		488



		489



		490



		491



		492



		493



		494



		495



		496



		497



		498



		499



		500



		501



		502



		503



		504



		505



		506



		507



		508



		509



		510



		511



		512



		513



		514



		515



		516



		517



		518



		519



		520



		521



		522



		523



		524



		525



		526



		527



		528



		529



		530



		531



		532



		533



		534











OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Cormorant-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/images/9781471197598.jpg
f THE NUMBER ONE BESTSELLER

WITH
FEAR

1T
BEGINS






OEBPS/e9781471197598/images/title.jpg
CHRIS
CARTER

GENESIS

SSSSS
SSSSSSSS
London - New York - Sydney - Toronto - New Delhi





OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/Cormorant-Italic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781471197598/fonts/EBGaramond-Italic.ttf


